IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO
WILLIAM EARL SWEET,
Appellant,
v.
STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.
ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA
INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GREGORY C. SMITH Capital Collateral Counsel Florida Bar No. 279080

JOHN M. JACKSON Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0993476

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL COUNSEL Northern Region of Florida Post Office Drawer 5498 Tallahassee, FL 32314-5498

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal is from the denial of William Sweet's motion for post-conviction relief by Circuit Court Judge Frederick B.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. INTRODUCTION

When the United States Supreme Court handed down their decision in Strickland v. Washington, the Court made it clear that every defendant was entitled to competent counsel in order to ensure that the state's case was subjected to a fair adversarial testing. Based on the facts developed at the evidentiary hearing below, it is clear that William Earl Sweet's counsel, Mr. Charlie Adams, did not competently represent him in either phase of his capital trial.

Mr. Sweet was convicted and sentenced to death for the murder of Felicia Bryant. He was also convicted of attempted murder in the shootings of Marcine Cofer, Sharon Bryant, and Mattie Mae Bryant in the same incident that resulted in Felicia Bryant's death. The State's theory of this case was that Marcene Cofer, an admitted drug dealer, was the intended victim because she was previously the victim of an assault and robbery in her home during which three men entered her apartment, hit her on the head with a gun, beat her, and stole money, jewelry and cocaine. The State suggested that Mr. Sweet was involved in that incident and that he planned to kill Ms. Cofer so that she would not identify him.

The murder occurred in Ms. Cofer's apartment at about one o'clock in the morning on June 27, 1990, where Felicia and Sharon Bryant were visiting. Felicia and Sharon, who were twelve and thirteen years old at the time, were watching television while

Ms. Cofer slept. They heard noise outside her front door and went to wake her up. Ms. Cofer told them not to worry and went back to sleep. When the noises continued, the girls again woke Ms. Cofer. Ms. Cofer and Sharon Bryant both looked out the peephole in the front door and saw a man standing outside. Ms. Cofer became frightened and told Felicia to knock on the wall to summon her mother who lived in the next apartment.

Mattie Mae Bryant heard the knock and came down to Ms. Cofer's apartment, entering through the front door. She had earlier seen two men outside Ms. Cofer's front door when she looked out a window in her apartment. They planned to leave the apartment together and go to the Bryant's apartment. Ms. Cofer wrote a note to her boyfriend and got her gun. Mrs. Bryant held a knife that she had brought from her own apartment for protection. They lined up in front of the door preparing to leave. Felicia Bryant was in front and she opened the door. she did so, a man whose face was disguised pushed the door open, entered the apartment and began shooting. Mrs. Bryant did not see the man's face. Sharon Bryant testified that she did not see his face but that she saw a flash of a ring that she was able to identify as the same ring she had seen on the man outside the door. Ms. Cofer saw the man's eyes and nose. Felicia Bryant was fatally shot. Ms. Cofer, Mrs. Bryant, and Sharon Bryant were all wounded.

Ms. Cofer was shown a photo line-up at the hospital that night and she identified Mr. Sweet. Sharon Bryant also chose Mr.

Sweet from a photo line-up. Aside from the identifications of these two witnesses, the State presented Manuella Roberts, a friend of Mr. Sweet, who testified that he was joking around about being involved in the robbery at Ms. Cofer's apartment. She admitted that she did not know whether he was involved. Solomon Hansbury also testified for the State that Mr. Sweet made incriminating statements at the jail. He admitted that he received a deal from the State in exchange for his testimony. The State presented no physical evidence connecting Mr. Sweet to this crime.

Post-conviction counsel for Mr. Sweet has presented unrebutted evidence regarding his trial counsel's deficient performance at both the guilt/innocence and penalty phases of his trial. Despite readily available evidence casting substantial doubt on the State's evidence and its theory of prosecution, Mr. Adams inexplicably failed to challenge the State's case against Mr. Sweet. And at the penalty phase, he presented only one witness, Mr. Sweet' sister, despite the availability of other witnesses who could chronicle Mr. Sweet's deprived childhood. Mr. Sweet's trial attorney also failed to secure a mental health expert to assist at the penalty phase despite the evidence there was a history of mental illness in Mr. Sweet's family as well as compelling mitigation that could have been presented and explained to the jury with the assistance of an expert. family members who testified at the evidentiary hearing demonstrate that significant mitigation evidence was available if only Mr. Adams had made the slightest effort to investigate his client's background.

While Mr. Adams admitted that he labored under the pressure of chronic illness and an unmanageable caseload due to his acceptance of conflict appointments throughout the Fourth Judicial Circuit, no other factor had a greater impact on the outcome of Mr. Sweet's trial than his attorney's inexperience. Mr. Adams had never before tried a capital case and admitted that he did not even know how to use an investigator. Despite his own lack of capital experience, he inexplicably recruited a civil rights lawyer, also with no death penalty experience, to act as his second chair. The investigator who briefly worked on Mr. Sweet's case until the money ran out did not even know that Mr. Sweet was facing the death penalty.

The effects of Mr. Adams' inexperience permeated Mr. Sweet's trial. He was unqualified to direct his investigator and never asked his co-counsel to do anything in preparation for the penalty phase. His inexperience also resulted in insufficient funds, because he simply did not know how much money to request from the court, which in turn resulted in a cursory investigation that failed to yield any results. Notably, Anthony McNish, whose testimony would have cast doubt on the State witnesses' identification of Mr. Sweet, was discovered by Mr. Sweet himself, and even then Mr. Adams' inexperience caused a glitch -- the witness was improperly subpoenaed, did not show up to trial despite his warning to Mr. Adams that he lacked transportation,

and as a result, the jury that convicted Mr. Sweet never heard his testimony.

While Mr. Adams' inexperience may explain why the defense portion of the penalty phase consists of ten transcript pages, it does not excuse his failure to present guilt phase evidence that supported his theory that Mr. Sweet was innocent and had been misidentified by the State's witnesses. He failed to investigate evidence of other suspects, did not recognize the possibility of Marcine Cofer's boyfriend being a suspect, and failed to present Jessie Gaskins whose testimony would have rebutted the State's evidence against Mr. Sweet. These failures, particularly in light of the questionable identification testimony of the State's witnesses, prove that Mr. Sweet was prejudiced by Mr. Adams' deficient performance.

B. THE TRIAL

Mr. Sweet was convicted on the testimony of Marcine Cofer and Sharon Bryant who both testified that they saw Mr. Sweet through a peephole. Ms. Cofer testified that she had seen Mr. Sweet "about three times" in the neighborhood and that she recognized him when she looked through the peephole in her front door. (R. 509-10). Sharon Bryant stood with Ms. Cofer and also looked out the peephole. (R. 616). In contradiction to Ms. Cofer's testimony that she recognized the man as Mr. Sweet, Sharon Bryant testified at her deposition that Ms. Cofer told her she did not know the man. (R. 619). Sharon Bryant testified that she looked at the man for six or seven seconds; however, her

description reveals that she remembered more about his clothing and accessories than his actual appearance:

I saw a built man, he was dark. He had a low haircut. He had on a white T-shirt. He had rings on his fingers and a beaded necklace with a cross on the end.

(R. 622). Miss Bryant admitted that she did not look directly at his face and could not provide any details of his appearance aside from his haircut. (R. 670-71). She did notice that he was wearing jeans and had a ring with red, blue and turquoise on it. (R. 623-24). Miss Bryant noticed the man's ring because he had his hand raised covering part of his face. (R. 624).

After they looked at the man through the peephole, he left. (R. 625). Ms. Cofer then sent Felicia Bryant to get the girls' mother who lived in the next apartment. (R. 625). Mattie Mae Bryant came to the apartment and Ms. Cofer let her in. (R. 626). Ms. Cofer then went to the kitchen to write a note for her boyfriend (R. 515). She got her gun and the women and girls lined up to leave the apartment. (R. 515). When they opened the door, a man came in the apartment shooting. (R. 515). The man who entered the apartment had a piece of clothing covering his face. (R. 517). Ms. Cofer testified that she saw only his eyes and his nose. (R. 527). Sharon Bryant admitted that she did not see his face. (R. 665). She saw only the flash of his ring and believed that she recognized him by his clothing and the ring on

¹Detective Parker testified that Miss Bryant did not mention the beaded necklace when she first described the shooter. (R. 900). She apparently added this detail only after seeing a photograph of Mr. Sweet wearing such a necklace.

his finger as the same man who was at the door earlier. (R. 629, 665). When the man came in the door, Sharon Bryant was standing behind her sister Felicia and her mother; she turned and ran when the man started shooting and was shot in the buttocks. (R. 665, 667). Miss Bryant was asked whether she could identify Mr. Sweet as the shooter:

- A I identified the clothing.
- Q You identified a pair of jeans and a white T-shirt?
- A Yes.
- Q That's all you identified?
- A Yes.

(R.673).

The State's theory of this case was that Mr. Sweet and two other men assaulted Ms. Cofer on June 6th and stole her jewelry, money and cocaine and that Mr. Sweet wanted to kill Ms. Cofer so that she would not identify him. Ms. Cofer had already identified two of the men who robbed her, and on the night of this incident she had looked at more photographs of suspects. (R. 533). She saw Mr. Sweet on the street near her apartment when she was standing outside talking to a detective. (R. 532). Ms. Cofer did not tell the detective that Mr. Sweet was the third man who was involved in the robbery, indicating that she did not recognize him and that he would not have a motive to kill her.

Mattie Mae Bryant testified that she did not get a good look at the shooter; she was only able to remember that he was tall and black. (R. 732). She only saw him for "a split second" and

believed that he had a mask over his face. (R. 766). Mrs. Bryant admitted that she has "bad eyes" and was not wearing her glasses that night. (R. 769). Before she was called downstairs by her daughter, Mrs. Bryant looked out her window and saw two men outside Ms. Cofer's apartment, and she heard one of them call Ms. Cofer's name. (R. 739).

The State corroborated the testimony of these witnesses with Solomon Hansbury, a jailhouse snitch who later admitted that he lied at Mr. Sweet's trial, and Manuella Roberts. Mr. Hansbury testified that he was in the jail with Mr. Sweet and that Mr. Sweet asked if he knew a girl named Marcine. (R. 943). Hansbury said that he did not and Mr. Sweet "said that's what he's supposed to have been in for." (R. 943). Mr. Sweet also said that he "thought Funky Larry was going to get the blame for this and that he "did all this shit for nothing because if I knew this was going to happen, I would have killed them all." (R. 943). When Mr. Sweet referred to Marcine, Mr. Hansbury did not know whether he was saying that he had done that crime or only had been accused of doing it. (R. 944). Mr. Hansbury admitted that he had a pending escape charge and that in exchange for his testimony he would get time served rather than a consecutive year on the escape charge. (R. 952). Manuella Roberts testified that she knows Mr. Sweet and had heard him joking about the robbery of Marcine Cofer. (R. 912). She also testified that Mr. Sweet frequently jokes around and exaggerates and that she did not know whether he was being serious about the robbery. (R. 913, 916).

Officer Jeffery Lawrence of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office testified that Mr. Sweet had jewelry in his pockets when he was arrested. (R. 852). Sharon Bryant testified that she looked at pictures of this jewelry at the police station and recognized the ring she saw on the man at the door whom she observed for several seconds through the peephole. (R. 655-56).

The defense presented one witness: Dr. Steven Lay who testified that Marcene Cofer had cocaine and marijuana in her system on the night of the shooting. (R. 992). He admitted that he could not say when she had taken the drugs. (R. 993). This evidence was cumulative to the State's evidence because Ms. Cofer had already explained on direct examination that she was a drug dealer at the time and that she would have had cocaine in her system from handling the drug during sales. (R. 534). In rebuttal, the State presented Officer Chester Potter who testified that when he interviewed Ms. Cofer on the night of the shooting she was not under the influence of drugs. (R. 1007).

The defense had subpoenaed another witness, Anthony McNish, whom even the State referred to as "an eyewitness," but he did not show up to testify. Mr. Adams admitted to the court that he had anticipated problems with the witness; he explained: "I went to pick him up yesterday afternoon and I thought I was going to lose him because of the fact somebody said he didn't live there

²Mr. Adams' lack of familiarity with this case and the witness who could have exonerated Mr. Sweet is reflected in his repeated references to him as "Arthur" rather than "Anthony." (R. 924).

anymore." (R. 924). He admitted that he did not have an investigator to assist him by getting witnesses to court. (R. 924). He told the court that he had spoken to Mr. McNish the night before and that "he felt like he didn't want to come." (R. 925).

When Mr. McNish was still not present at the conclusion of Dr. Lay's testimony, Mr. Adams told the court what the substance of his testimony would have been. (R. 997-98). Mr. Adams requested a thirty-minute recess to attempt to find Mr. McNish. (R. 998). After the recess, Mr. Adams told the court that he had gone to McNish's apartment and his grandmother's house but did not find him. (R. 1001). He told the court that he spoke to a young boy at Mr. McNish's apartment who did not know where McNish was. (R. 1002). Mr. Adams told the court that he also spoke with McNish's grandmother and was told that he had not been there that day. (R. 1002). The court found that Mr. Adams had made "extraordinary efforts" to find the witness. (R. 1002). Mr. Adams did not object to proceeding without the witness.

Mr. Sweet was found guilty of first-degree murder, three counts of attempted first-degree murder, and armed burglary. (R. 1170).

The defense presented³ one penalty phase witness --Deone Sweet, Mr. Sweet's sister.⁴ She testified that she and her

³The State's penalty phase evidence focused on proving that Mr. Sweet had three prior felony convictions.

⁴At the conclusion of the State's evidence, Mr. Adams requested a recess "so we can see who our witnesses are out

brothers grew up without a father but that their childhood was "normal." (R. 1242). Ms. Sweet testified that their mother was an alcoholic "on and off" but that this did not affect the children. (R. 1245). From the time he was thirteen or fourteen, Mr. Sweet was raised by his sister who was a single mother and still a teenager herself. (R. 1245). Mr. Sweet was a good uncle to Ms. Sweet's child but he did not try to help her financially. (R. 1246). Ms. Sweet's testimony comprises five transcript pages.

Mr. Adams' closing statement, which is also only five pages long, was not an impassioned plea to save his client's life. It was not a summary of compelling mitigation evidence that could have persuaded the jury to recommend life. It was a rambling, almost incoherent, statement that only briefly addressed the issue of mitigation. Mr. Adams began by attempting to cast doubt on the State's guilt phase evidence and the reliability of the eyewitnesses. (R. 1265-66). He then argued that the State had not proved that Mr. Sweet had committed any prior violent felonies, despite the testimony of a victim and eyewitnesses to those prior crimes. (R. 1266-67). For what amounts to one page of the transcript, he addressed Mr. Sweet's childhood -- the fact that he did not know his father, was essentially raised by his sister, and that he was not a discipline problem for her. (R.

there?" (R. 1241). Apparently, Mr. Adams did not even know at this point whether he had any penalty phase witnesses and who they might be. The court gave him a ten minute recess to prepare for Mr. Sweet's penalty phase.

1269). He concluded by expressing his personal opinion that the aggravating factors (cold, calculated and premeditated and avoid arrest) do not apply; he did not refer to any evidence to support this opinion. (R. 1269). The jury recommended the death penalty by a vote of ten to two. (R. 1278).

Mr. Adams presented no evidence at the sentencing hearing before the judge. He made a brief argument, summarizing the evidence of Mr. Sweet's childhood that was contained in the presentence investigation report. (R. 1288-90). The court found the following aggravating circumstances: prior violent felony convictions; avoid arrest; during commission of a burglary; and cold, calculated, and premeditated. (R. 1309-10). The court found no statutory mitigation but did find that the lack of parental guidance was a nonstatutory mitigating factor. (R. 1310). Mr. Sweet also received four consecutive life sentences on the attempted murder and armed burglary charges. (R. 1313-15).

C. THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING

Solomon Hansbury testified for the State at Mr. Sweet's trial and corroborated the eyewitness testimony of Marcene Cofer and Sharon Bryant by testifying that Mr. Sweet confessed to him. Mr. Hansbury admitted at the evidentiary hearing that he lied at Mr. Sweet's trial and that he received a benefit from the State in exchange for his false testimony. (PCR. 1909-10). When asked to explain the truth, he answered:

There is no truth. I don't know the truth, you know. What I said in the trial was something that it was like stuff that I had heard, you know. Earl never told me nothing. He never told me anything, you know. When I met Earl in the

holding cell it was like him talking to somebody else and he was like, yeah, man, I just can't believe they came and got me talking about a murder for something I don't know nothing about.

(PCR. 1910). At the time of Mr. Sweet's trial, Mr. Hansbury was facing an escape charge, and he knew that if he offered evidence against another inmate, he could help himself. (PCR. 1910). Mr. Hansbury did not even know the name of the victim, and the little that he did know about the case did not come from Mr. Sweet. (PCR. 1911). In exchange for his cooperation on this case, Mr. Hansbury did not serve any time on the pending escape charge. (PCR. 1913). At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Hansbury explained that he had not told anyone since the trial that he lied against Mr. Sweet (PCR. 1915).

In addition to this newly discovered evidence of Mr. Sweet's innocence, post-conviction counsel presented evidence of ineffective assistance of counsel at both the guilt and penalty phases of Mr. Sweet's trial. Charles Adams, Mr. Sweet's trial lawyer, testified to his total lack of experience in capital litigation and admitted that although he believed that Mr. Sweet was innocent, he did not investigate the possibility of other suspects. He also admitted that he conducted no investigation for the penalty phase and even failed to use the records that had been obtained by the public defender's office before he got the case. Lindsey Moore, a federal civil rights lawyer, testified that he agreed to work on the case only because Mr. Adams seemed so overburdened and that his participation was supposed to be limited to the cross-examination of a few State witnesses. He

was completely unprepared to present the testimony of the only penalty phase witness.

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