WILLIAM EARL SWEET,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC00-1509

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.__/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA J. YATES ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 293237

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4584

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

(VI 1086).

Now, Sweet claims that the court erred by not considering "the cumulative effect of all the evidence presented at" his trial (initial brief at 84) and "all the evidence not presented at" his trial. (Initial brief at 86). In making this claim Sweet cites <u>Kyles v. Whitley</u>, 514 U.S. 419 (1995), <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 679 So.2d 736 (Fla.1996), and <u>State v. Gunsby</u>, 670 So.2d 920 (Fla. 1996), cases dealing with the cumulative analysis to be employed in considering alleged violations of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and newly discovered evidence. Sweet, however, made no

definite <u>Brady</u> claim in his amended motion and failed utterly to prove that any <u>Brady</u> violation occurred.

Moreover, contrary to his claim (initial brief at 84), <u>Gunsby</u> is not exactly on point. Instead, in that case, this Court reversed for a new trial because of <u>Brady</u> violations and counsel's ineffectiveness at the penalty phase. Here, however, Sweet established no <u>Brady</u> violation and, as explained in issue II, supra, the circuit court did not err in denying the penalty-phase ineffectiveness claim.

Sweet's contention that there was no evidence to connect him to the robbery of Cofer that precipitated this homicide ignores Manuela Roberts' testimony at trial.⁶ (DAR XXV 911; <u>see also</u> <u>Sweet</u>, 624 So.2d at 1139). Contrary to his claim that only "Solomon Hansbury's false testimony" linked him to the murder (initial brief at 85), two eyewitnesses identified Sweet as the shooter. The circuit court, as was its prerogative as the finder of fact, found "Hansbury's current testimony that he lied at trial to be incredible." (VI 1084). <u>See Armstrong v. State</u>, 642 So.2d 730 (Fla. 1994) (recanted testimony is exceedingly unreliable);

⁶ It also ignores the stipulation that: Cofer was robbed by three armed black men on April 6, 1990; Cofer went to the police department on April 26, 1990 and was driven home in a police vehicle; Sweet was near her residence when she returned; the homicide occurred that night; between April 6 and 26 Sweet told Roberts about the robbery; and Sweet told Hansbury that he had robbed Cofer. (DAR II 240).

<u>Bell v. State</u>, 90 So.2d 704 (Fla. 1956) (same); <u>Henderson v. State</u>, 135 Fla. 548, 185 So. 625 (1938) (same).

Conclusory allegations are insufficient to state a claim for relief. <u>See Asay</u>, 769 So.2d at 982; <u>Ragsdale</u>, 720 So.2d at 207. The circuit court, therefore, properly denied the innocence claim because it was insufficiently pled. The court also properly found the claim to be meritless because it was not supported by the evidence presented at trial or at the evidentiary hearing. Sweet demonstrated neither his innocence in fact nor of the death penalty and has failed to show that the circuit court erred in its consideration of his claim of innocence. The denial of that claim, therefore, should be affirmed.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE REGARDING SWEET'S ORIGINAL EVALUATION BY A MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT.

Sweet argues that Adams was ineffective because Miller examined him prior to trial only for competency, Adams did not provide Miller with background information that might have led to the introduction of mitigating evidence, and Adams did not ensure that Sweet had an adequate mental health examination. There is no merit to this claim.

This issue is a combination of claims VIII (penalty-phase ineffectiveness), XXVII (failure to provide Miller with background

- 44 -

information), and XXVIII (inadequate competency evaluation). (II 244-54, 319-35). The circuit court's findings regarding most of this argument are quoted in issue II, supra, and will not be repeated here. The court summarized the evidentiary hearing testimony and found that the evidence did not support the conclusions of Toomer and Salmon that mental health mitigation would have altered the outcome of the penalty phase and that Adams was ineffective for not discovering and introducing the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing. (VI 1092-96). The court also stated the following in finding that claim XXVII had no merit:

> The defendant claims that his trial counsel failed to provided the two Court mental health examiners appointed with sufficient background information to allow them to adequately evaluate the defendant's competency to stand trial. Oddly enough, while taking the position in his instant motion, that he should basically have as long as he wants to file his postconviction motion, he also wishes to capitalize[] on the faded memory of his trial counsel, about matters that occurred some eight years ago, in support of this claim. This Court need not decide whether counsel's performance was deficient, as this Court finds that the evidence failed to establish actual prejudice. Williamson v. Dugger, 651 So.2d 84 (Fla. 1994); Kennedy v. <u>State</u>, 547 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1989).

> This Court appointed two independent mental health professionals to examine the defendant, Dr. Ernst C. Miller, M.D., and Maritza Cabrera, M.A., CRC. Their final report consists of pages 312-313 A, of the record on appeal (also received in evidence at the hearing as Defendant's Exhibit #2). The report shows that the examiners were, in fact, aware of much of the information that the

defendant contends his counsel did not provide them with. The information in the report is stated in concise summarizations, as opposed to being recited in the detail that the defendant has stated it in his motion. The defendant did not call Dr. Miller as a witness at the hearing to establish his alleged lack of adequate information; rather, the State called Dr. Miller and established that his opinion would not have been different even when specifically considering the facts not specifically noted in his report. Therefore, this Court finds that the evidence failed to establish any prejudice to the defendant's mental health examination. <u>Williamson</u>, supra; Kennedy, supra.

(VI 1091-92). As set out in the statement of the case and facts and the circuit court's findings quoted in issue II, supra, the record supports the court's conclusions.

Sweet relies on numerous federal cases to support his argument, but all are factually distinguishable from this case. In <u>Baxter v. Thomas</u>, 45 F.3d 1501 (11th Cir. 1995); <u>Cunningham v.</u> <u>Zant</u>, 928 F.2d 1006 (11th Cir. 1991); <u>Middleton v. Dugger</u>, 849 F.2d 491 (11th Cir. 1988); <u>Magill v. Dugger</u>, 824 F.2d 879 (11th Cir. 1988); and <u>Stephens v. Kemp</u>, 846 F.2d 682 (11th Cir. 1988), trial counsel were deemed ineffective for failing to find and/or use the defendants' psychiatric and medical records in mitigation. In <u>Lloyd v. Whitley</u>, 977 F.2d 149 (5th Cir. 1992); <u>Elledge v. Dugger</u>, 823 F.2d 1439 (11th Cir. 1987); and <u>Blake v. Kemp</u>, 758 F.2d 523 (11th Cir. 1985), counsel were ineffective, respectively, for failing to hire a mental health expert, failing to contact the

- 46 -

defendant's family, and for failing to prepare in any way whatsoever for the penalty phase.

Here, on the other hand, Sweet had no history of mental health problems. Instead, he had been diagnosed with antisocial personality disorder, which is not mitigating and which would not have convinced the jury to recommend less than a death sentence. Moreover, as explained in issue II, supra, Adams contacted Sweet's mother, sister, girlfriend and her mother, and one set of Sweet's foster parents, and the circuit court correctly found that he was not ineffective.

Again, this Court should compare cases with similar facts when considering ineffectiveness claims. <u>Stephens</u>, 748 So.2d at 1034. Instead of the cases cited by Sweet, his case is more similar to numerous cases where this Court has affirmed the circuit courts' finding that the defendants failed to prove the same claims that Sweet has made. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Cherry</u>, 25 Fla.L.Weekly at S721-22; <u>Johnson</u>, 25 Fla.L.Weekly at S583; <u>Asay</u>, 769 So.2d at 985-87; <u>Jones</u>, 732 So.2d at 320; <u>Rutherford</u>, 727 So.2d at 222-24; <u>Breedlove</u>, 692 So.2d at 877-78. Sweet has demonstrated no error in the circuit court's denial of claims VIII, XXVII, and XXVIII of his postconviction motion, and that denial of relief should be affirmed.

- 47 -

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED SEVERAL OF SWEET'S POSTCONVICTION CLAIMS.

Sweet argues that the circuit court erred in summarily denying several claims raised in his postconviction motion. There is no merit to this claim.

In <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990), this Court stated: "The purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal. Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived." See Teffeteller, 734 So.2d at 1020; Coolen v. State, 696 So.2d 738, 742 n.2 (Fla. 1997); Kight v. Dugger, 574 So.2d 1066, 1073 (Fla. 1990); <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 1255, 1260 (Fla. 1990); <u>see also</u> Shere, 742 So.2d at 217 n.6 ("In a heading in his brief, Shere asserts that the trial court erred by summarily denying nineteen of the twenty-three claims raised in his 3.850 motion. However, for most of these claims, Shere did not present any argument or allege on what grounds the trial court erred in denying these claims. We find that these claims are insufficiently presented for review."). Most of the complaints raised in this issue are stated in a sentence or two. As such, they do not comply with <u>Duest</u> and should be summarily denied.

- 48 -

Failure to impeach the state's witnesses. This was claim
VIIC in the amended motion. (II 241-43). The circuit court denied
this subclaim as follows:

The defendant's third claim under this ground is that counsel allegedly failed to properly cross-examine Marcine Cofer and Solomon Hansbury at trial (Hansbury testified at trial regarding the defendant's confession to him). The defendant contends that counsel should have attempted to impeach Cofer's identification of him through evidence of her drug usage. The defendant acknowledges that counsel was restrained in his efforts to do this through a pre-trial order of this Court. The trial transcripts rebut this claim, in that the jury did hear evidence that Cofer sold drugs, used drugs, and that she had drugs in her system on the night of the murder. Moreover, the defendant fails to allege why the jury would disbelieve Cofer's positive identification of the defendant in the face of such corroborating evidence as the positive identification of the defendant by Sharon Bryant, the defendant's possession of the jewelry he had stolen from Cofer during the prior robbery, and the testimony of the defendant's confession to both Solomon Hansbury and Manuela Roberts. As for Solomon Hansbury, the trial transcripts show that counsel did extensively cross-examine Hansbury and the defendant fails to allege what additional cross-examination counsel should have [performed]. As part of this claim, the defendant presented the recanted testimony of Hansbury at the evidentiary hearing. However, Hansbury admitted that he is now serving a life sentence without the possibility of parole, that snitches are not highly regarded in prison, and that the inmates consider it an admirable thing to testify on behalf of another inmate. Hansbury's trial testimony was consistent with the other evidence in this case. This Court finds Hansbury's current testimony that he lied at trial to be incredible. This Court finds that there is no

reasonable probability that any of the claims raised under this ground would probably have resulted in a different outcome at trial. <u>Williamson v. Dugger</u>, 651 So.2d 84 (Fla. 1994); <u>Kennedy v. State</u>, 547 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1989).

(VI 1083-84). These findings are supported by the record of both the trial and the evidentiary hearing. <u>E.g.</u>, DAR II 206; DAR II 219; DAR II 240; DAR XXIII 506 et seq.; DAR XXVI 929 et seq.; DAR XXVI 989; X 1908-23. The findings of fact are correct and should not be disturbed by this Court. Sweet has shown no error in the circuit court's conclusion that he suffered no prejudice, and that finding should be affirmed.

2. Outside influences on the jury. This was claim IX in the amended motion (II 254-56), and the circuit court found it procedurally barred because Adams objected at trial and the claim could have been raised on appeal. (VI 1085). The court fully explored this alleged incident at trial (DAR XXIV 572-601), and the summary denial should be affirmed.

3. Failure to object to vague aggravators. This is a combination of claims IV, V, and X in the amended motion. (II 226-30, 256-58). The circuit court summarily denied these claims as procedurally barred and, in the case of claims IV and V, devoid of merit. (VI 1078-80, 1085-86). Sweet has shown no error, and the summary denial should be affirmed. <u>See Sireci v. State</u>, 773 So.2d 34, 40, n.10 (Fla. 2000); <u>Asav</u>, 769 So.2d at 989.

- 50 -

4. Sweet's absence. This was claim XIII in the amended motion (II 283-84), and the circuit court found it to be procedurally barred, facially insufficient, and meritless. (VI 1087). The record supports this ruling (e.g., DAR XIX 145; DAR XX 150, 152; DAR XXII 309; DAR XXIII 367; DAR XXIV 607), and the summary denial should be affirmed. <u>See Bottoson v. State</u>, 674 So.2d 621, 622 n.1 (Fla. 1996).

5. Mercy. This was claim XIV in the amended motion (II 285-87), and the circuit court found it to be procedurally barred and without merit. (VI 1087). This ruling is correct, <u>see Asay</u>, 769 So.2d 989, and should be affirmed.

6. Burden shift. This was claim XVIII in the amended motion. (II 295-99). The court's holding this claim to be procedurally barred and meritless (VI 1088-89) is correct and should be affirmed. <u>Arbelaez v. State</u>, 775 So.2d 909, 915 (Fla. 2000); <u>Asay</u>, 769 So.2d at 989.

7. State misconduct - destruction of evidence. This was claim VI in the amended motion. (II 230-31). The circuit court denied this claim as facially insufficient because Sweet failed to allege bad faith as required by <u>Arizona v. Youngblood</u>, 488 U.S. 51 (1988), and <u>Merck v. State</u>, 664 So.2d 939 (Fla. 1995), and because it is meritless. Sweet has demonstrated no error and the summary denial should be affirmed.

- 51 -

8. Prosecutorial misconduct. This was claim XIX in the amended motion (II 299-304), and the circuit court held it to be procedurally barred. (VI 1089). No error has been demonstrated and the summary denial should be affirmed. <u>See Asay</u>, 769 So.2d at 989.

9. Nonstatutory aggravators. This was claim XXV in the amended motion (II 315-16), and the court found it to be procedurally barred. (VI 1091). Sweet has demonstrated no error in the summary denial, which should be affirmed. <u>See Knight v.</u> <u>State</u>, 746 So.2d 423, 431 (Fla. 1998).

10. Trial court's consideration of mitigators. This was claim XXIV in the amended motion. (II 310-14). The court held that the claim was procedurally barred and meritless. (VI 1090-91). Sweet has shown no error, and the summary denial should be affirmed. <u>See Sireci</u>, 773 So.2d at 40 n.10; <u>Asay</u>, 769 So.2d at 989.

11. Unconstitutional aggravators. This may be a repeat of claims IV, V, and X (see number 3 supra) or may be claim XVII (cumulative error) in the amended motion (II 292-94), which the court denied as procedurally barred. Whatever this allegation refers to, Sweet has demonstrated no error, and the court's summary denial should be affirmed. <u>See Freeman v. State</u>, 761 So.2d 1055, 1068-69 (Fla. 2000) ("A postconviction movant must specifically identify the claims which demonstrate the prevention of a fair

- 52 -

trial. Mere conclusory allegations do not warrant relief"); <u>Duest;</u> <u>Shere</u>.

12. State's misconduct. Undersigned counsel was unable to determine what in the amended motion this allegation refers to. It may be any or all of claims VI, XIV, XVII, XIX (see numbers 5, 7, 8, and 11, supra), and XXVI (violation of <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320 (1985)). (II 317-19). The court found the last claim to be procedurally barred. (VI 1091). Sweet has shown no error in the summary denial of this claim, or the others, and that denial should be affirmed. <u>See Arbelaez</u>, 775 So.2d at 915.

As stated earlier, this issue is insufficiently briefed. Moreover, the allegations of ineffectiveness are insufficient to overcome the procedural bars and lack of merit. <u>See Asay</u>, 769 So.2d at 989. Therefore, this claim should be denied summarily.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE RECORD ON APPEAL IS SO INCOMPLETE THAT SWEET CANNOT MEANINGFULLY RAISE CLAIMS IN THIS APPEAL.

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